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IN THE
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE
W ESTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA
CHARLOTTESVILLE DIVISION

M AY 2014 SESSION

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA

3 ' l ( U U (Criminal Ntzmber: .
In Violation of:

18 U.S.C. j 2
18 U.S.C. j 924(c)(1)(A)
18 U.S.C. jj 1512(a)(1)(C) and c)(1)
18 U.S.C. j 1951(a)
18 U.S.C. jj 1959(a)(1) andt3)
18 U.S.C. j 1962 (d)
21 U.S.C. jj 841and 846

DANIEL LAM ONT M ATHIS
alkla EsGunna''
alkla CiM ooch''
a/V a C&D-M an''

SHANTAI M ONIOUE SHELTON
ZIVa CûTai''-

aIVa ktlaady Blaze''
a/k/a kiBoss Lady''

M ERSADIES LACHELLE SHELTON
a/k/a ttlwady Gulm s''

TRAVIS LEON BELL
ZIV a ûtlkweli Uhuru,''
zlV a :çK Gunns''
alkla ltBlack W olf '
a/k/a ddBabi''

ANTHONY LEE W HITE
aIVa ScAnt''
a/k/a û:Ant W hite''
a/k/a EEYG Chop''

GERT ARTHUR LEE W RIGHT, l1I
a/k/a ttl-lalisi Uhunf'
a/k/a çGGritty''
zlV a EsBones''
a/kla Cillig Hom ey''
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ANTHONY DARNELL STOKES
zlkla iTace''
a/Va çlBlack Face''
a/k/a iuKenyata Baraka''

LESLIE HOPE CASTERLOW
a/lc/a étW hite Girl''

DEVANTE O'BRIAN BELL
a/k/a CiM ook''
a/k/a CtM ookie''

INDICTM ENT

COUNT ONE
Racketeering Conspiracy

(December 2012 through April 2014)

The Grand Jury charges:

Introduction

çû-l-he Bloods'' street gang was fonned in the early 1970s in Los Angeles,

Califomia. The gang was initially composed of several smaller individual street gangs who

unitied as tt-fhe Bloods'' to protect themselves from the larger Crips street gangs.

The Bloods street gang is comprised of individual tmits, or Cûsets,'' each identified

or affiliated with a certain street, neighborhood, or geographic area. Despite the differing

geographic regions, the sets maintain common tattoos, communication codes, language, and

graffiti markings, and members of every set are easily identified as Bloods because they wear red,

the gang signature color. The Crips gang signature color is blue.

Bloods gang members traditionallyjoin together to enrich themselves by

comm itting robberies, burglaries and traftkking in narcotics. Junior members of the gang are
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expected to put in Eiwork'' and provide money and other things of valued to more senior gang

mem bers. M oreover, they traditionally com mit acts of violence against individuals they

perceived to be rivals of the organization, including rival gang m embers, econom ic competitors,

and people they believe to have cooperated with law enforcement.

The 99 Goon Syndikate (a!Va Erouble Nine Goon Syndikate'' or CûDNGS'') is one

of many sets of the Bloods street gang and was started on Novem ber 28, 2009.

During the period of the conspiracy which is the subject of this indictment,

GERT ARTHUR LEE W RIGHT ll1 a/k/a iûl-lalisi Uhunl,'' EtGritty,'' EsBones,'' and CûBig Homey,''7 ,

who became a member of the 99 Goon Syndikate set of the Bloods while incarcerated, has been

the highest rarlking member of the set in the Commonwealth of Virginia.

According to docum ents seized from the defendants, the m embers of 99 Goon

Syndikate are governed by the sam e nlles of the national Bloods organization. Those rules

include, among others: (a) no snitching; (b) never put anything or anyone before a Blood or

Blood business; (c) never deny a Blood shelter; and (d) always obey lawful orders from

superiors.

According to those same seized documents, the gang has both a idGoon Oath'' and

a 6199 Goon Oath.'' The ttGoon'' oath reads:

1 pledge myself, mind, body, and soul in the presence of sanctioned
representatives to the Double Nine Goon Syndikate. 1 accept
upon myself the sacred duty to honor uphold and defend the
revolutionary Tetlon ideology for which the Syndikate stmlds. In
picking up these 9's 1 renounce a11 fonuer affiliations swearing an
eternal oath in love, vigilance, strength, and sacritice with no
duplicity. Hence forth I shall be known as the Goon. . .1 solem nly
declare I live by m y Goons die by my Goons.

USAO 2014R00074

Case 3:14-cr-00016-GEC   Document 3   Filed 05/14/14   Page 3 of 39   Pageid#: 7



The :199 Goon'' oath reads:

I take this Oath in to the Double Nine Gangster fam ily with full
understanding that love, vigilance, strength, and sacrifice are our

mottos and must never be forsaken. Overstanding (sic) that it is
quali'ty over quantity. Fnmily over foe. But Double Nine Gangster
over all. W e are the chosen few who will forever remain Tetlon
koated. Hail an Praise!

According to the seized documents, the word tTeflon'' for the 99 Goon Syndikate is an acronym

that stands for itteaching and educating futttre leaders of our nation.''

In addition to an oath, documents seized from the defendants further disclose that

the 99 Goon Syndikate also has a Constitution, which reads:

Loved by few, hated by many, but respected by all. W hen the
wicked of the wicked oppress us we will make sure they taste and
know death no matler how bad the odds are stacked up against us.
Bloods always win.

During the period of this conspiracy, the 99 Goon Syndikate created and

maintained an organizational hierarchical membership structure. GERT ARTHUR LEE

W RIGHT 1lI a/lc/a tdl-lalisi Uhuru,'' ttGritty,'' CtBones,'' and çtBig Homey,'' along with5 '

ANTHONY DARN ELL STOKES, a/k/a VsFaces'' and TRAVIS LEON BELL a/k/a Glloweli

Uhuru,'' tCK Gunns,'' IçBabi '' and tdBlack W olf,'' m anaged, prom oted, and further established the

criminal enterprise and directed lower-rarlking members to f'urther the enterprise.

10. At a1l tim es relevant to this Indictment, the following Defendants were mem bers

and/or close assoeiates of the 99 Goon Syndikate set of the Blood Street Gang:

a. GERT ARTHUR LEE W RIGHT, 111, a)Va 4tl-lalisi Uhuru,'' tcGritty,'' ltBones,''
and ç;Bi Homey ''g ,
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b. ANTHONY DARNELL STOKES, ZIVa çûFace,'' SkBlack Face,'' and içloenyata
Szoka ''

c. TRAVIS LEON BELL a/k/a ElKweli Uhuru,'' ;iK Gulms,'' ûûBabi '' and ûtBlack5
W O1f ''7

d. DANIEL LAM ON T M ATHIS, a/lc/a ûiGunna,'' D-M an,'' and tçM ooch''
e. SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON, a/k/a 1tTai,'' ttady Blaze,'' and itBoss
Lady ''5

f. M ERSADIES LACHELLE SHELTON, a/k/a itady Gunns,''
g, DEVANTE O'BRIAN Bell a/k/a ltM ook'' and çûM ookie,''
h. ANTHON Y LEE W HITE, aIVa :tAnt,'' tGYG Chop,'' and ûtAnt W hite,''

According to docum ents seized from the mem bers of the enterprise, and at al1

times relevant to this lndictment, the Defendants had been issued gang identification and titles,

which, in part, retlect their role and stature in the gang and the gang hierarchy. The identification

num ber and title for each of the gang m embers identified above are as follows:

a. GERT ARTHUR LEE WRIGHT, 111, (OOG) 101-0001
b. ANTHONY DARNELL STOKES, (Original Gangster) 102-0001
c. TRAVIS LEON BELL (Big Homie) 103-0001
d. DEVANTE O'BRIAN BELL (Soldier) 103-0003
e. JUVENILE //1 (Soldier) 103-0004
L ANTHONY LEE WHITE (Soldier) 103-0005
g. SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON (Sergeant) 103-0007
h. DANIEL LAMONT MATHIS (Soldier) 103-0008
i. MERSADIES LACHELLE SHELTON (Unknown) unknown

12. At all times relevant to this Indictment, Bloods Street Gang members, including

99 Goons Syndikate, in the W estem District of Virginia and elsewhere engaged in criminal

adivity, including but not limited to: assault resulting in bodily injuty; assault with a dangerous

weapon; robbery; larceny; burglary; obstruction of justice', kidnapping', carjacking; murder; drug

trafficking; and conspiracy to comm it those crim es. The 99 Goon Syndikate mem bers comm itted

criminal acts, including acts of violence, to maintain membership and discipline within the gang.

The ability of a 99 Goon Syndikate mem ber to earn money for the organization through the
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commission of illegal acts, as well as his or her facility with Bloods street gang ltknowledge,'' are

factors in determining whether a m ember should be promoted to a position of leadership within

the gang.

The Racketeerinc Entem rise

At all times relevant to this lndictment, defendants DANIEL LAM ONT M ATHIS,

a/k/a ûiGunna,'' D-Man,'' and ttMooch'' SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON, a1Va. E;Tai,'' Gtlvady

Blazer'' and GlBoss Ladyr'' M ERSADIES LACHELLE SHELTON, a/k/a tilaady Gunns,'' TRAVIS

LEON BELL z1V a tçKweli Uhuru,'' ûiK Gunns,'' ttBabi '' and ':Black W o1f,'' ANTHONY LEE5

W HITE, alV a $W nt,'' CIYG Chop,'' and ttAnt W hiter'' GERT ARTHUR LEE W RIGHT, 111, z1V a

Eçl-lalisi Uhuru,'' tiGritty,'' ûlBones,'' and fdl3ig Homeyp'' ANTHONY DARNELL STOKES, a/k/a

EtFace,'' ççBlack Face,'' and i:Kenyata Baraka,'' DEVANTE O'BRIAN BELL a1V a tiM ook'' and

EéMookie,'' and ajuvenile co-conspirator whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, and others

known and unknown were mem bers and associates of a criminal organization, the Bloods, which

was engaged in, among other things, murder, robbery, kidnapping, carjacking, and the trafficking

of controlled substances, including cocaine and cocaine base, also known as crack cocaine,

within the W estern District of V irginia and elsewhere.

14. This crim inal organization, including its leadership, m embership, and associates,

constituted an tûenterprise,'' as detined by Title 18, United States Code, Section 196144), that is, a

group of individuals associated-in-fact. The enterprise constituted an ongoing organization

whose m em bers functioned as a continuing unit for a comm on purpose of achieving the

objectives of the enterprise. This enterprise was engaged in, and its activities affected, interstate

and foreign com merce.
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Purposes of the Enterprise

15. The purposes of the enterprise included promoting and enhancing the enterprise,

and emiehing its members and associates through, am ong other things, ads of violence,

including murder, robbely, burglaly, abduction, trafficking in controlled substances and the

enforcement of discipline nmong the members', to providing assistance to members of the

enterprise who com mitted crim es for and on behalf of the enterprise, and thwarting efforts of law

enforcem ent to apprehend m embers thereof.

Role of the Defendants

The roles of the defendants included, but were not limited to, the following:

a. GERT ARTHUR LEE W RIGHT, 111, a/Va lûllalisi Uhuru,'' kkGritly,''

EiBones,'' and ûtBig Homey,'' was a leader of the enterprise who directed and guided other

members of the enterprise in canying out certain unlawful and other activities in furtherance of

conducting the enterprise's affairs. W R-IGHT was identified in the gang's writings as the OOG

(EtDouble Original Gangstef'), with the enteprise-issued identification number, 101-0001.

W RIGHT has the word itBlood'' tattooed on his face. W RIGHT was instrumental in directing the

efforts of the enterprise to relocate those members of the enterprise who were involved in the

robbery, abduction, and murder of Kevin Quick in order to avoid detection and apprehension.

He was further involved in direding the efforts of the enteprise in the destrudion of doeuments

and evidence associated with the murder of Quick. Finally, W RIGHT was involved in the sale

and distribution of narcotics for the benefh of the enterprise in the Northem  Virginia area.

ANTHONY DARNELL STOKES, a/k/a ç$Face,'' m aintains a leadership

position in the enterprise and is known as the ûCOG'' (Original Gangster), which is one level
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below GERT ARTHUR LEE W RIGHT, 111, a/k/a iûl-lalisi Uhulx '' tûGritty,'' ûlBones,'' and CtBig

Homey.'' STOKES is identified by his enterprise-issued identification number, 102-0001.

Under direction of the leader of the enterprise, STOKES w as involved in the efforts to relocate

those members of the enterprise involved in the robbely and mlzrder of Kevin Quick. He was

further involved in the efforts of the enterprise to destroy documents and evidence associated

with the murder of Quick. Finally, STOKES was involved in the sale and distribution of

narcotics for the benefit of the enterprise in the Northern Virginia area.

c. TRAVIS LEON BELL alkla tlloweli Uhuru,'' :tK Gunns,'' ççBabi '' and5

llBlack W o1f,'' is identified as a ûtBig Hom ie'' in the entep rise, with the enterprise-issued

identification number, 103-0001. BELL has a number of Blood street gang tattoos on his person.

BELL was involved in a number of robberies committed by the enterprise and was directly

involved in the robbery, abduction, and murder of Kevin Quick.

d. DANIEL LAM ONT M ATHIS, a/lc/a slGum1a,'' D-M an,'' and ûtM ooch'' is a

tûsoldier'' for the enterprise. M ATHIS has a ::99 Goon'' tattoo on his hand and is identified by

his enterprise-issued identification number, 103-0008. MATHIS was involved in a number of

robberies and the sale of narcotics, a11 on behalf of the enterprise. Further, he was directly

involved in the robbely, abduction, and murder of Kevin Quick.

SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON, a/lda ';Tai,'' çsloady Blaze,'' and liBoss

Lady,'' is a ttsergeant'' for the enterprise. SHELTON has a ûtEast Side,'' ççest. 2013 '' and

numerous five-point stars tattooed on her person and is identified by her enterprise-issued

identitk ation number, 103-0007. SHELTON w as involved in a number of robberies on behalf of
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the enterprise. Further, she was directly involved in the robbery, abduction, and murder of Kevin

Quick.

M ERSADIES LACHELLE SHELTON, a/lt/a tt ady Gulms,'' is a ûtsoldier''

for the enterprise. SHELTON has a :199 Diva'' tattoo on her person located under a tattoo of a

five-pointed crown (a common Bloods Street Gang symbol). Her enterprise-issued

identification number is unknown. SHELTON was involved in robberies committed by the

enterprise, including the robbery, kidnapping, and murder of Kevin Quick.

DEVAN TE O'BRIAN BELL a/k/a ttM ook'' and çtM ookie,'' is a tlsoldier''

for the enterprise. BELL is identified by his entem rise-issued identitication number, 103-0003.

He is the brother of fellow entemrise mem ber TRAVIS LEON BELL a/k/a llloweli Uhuru,'' $CK

Gunns,'' and ûtBlack W olf.'' DEVANTE BELL was involved in robberies committed by the

enterprise, as well as the sale and distribution of narcotics on behalf of the entep rise.

ANTHONY LEE W HITE a/lt/a ttAnt,'' GtYG Chop,'' and tlAnt W hite,'' is a

Etsoldier'' for the enterprise. W HITE is identified by his enterprise-issued identitication num ber,

103-0005. W HITE has a num ber of Bloods street gang tattoos on his person. W HITE w as

involved in robberies comm itted by the enterprise, as well as the sale and distribution of

nalvotic,s on behalf of the enterplise.

M nnner and M eans of the Entemrisç

Among the m amwr and means by which the mem bers and their associates

conduded and participated in the eondud of the affairs of the enterprise were the following:

M embers of the entetw ise and their assodates robbed num erous

businesses through the use of force, threat, and intimidation.

9
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b. M embers of the enterprise and their associates robbed individuals at their

residences and elsewhere tluough the use of force, threat, and intimidation.

M embers of the enterprise and their associates burglarized or otherwise

committed larcenies, which included the theft of tireanns, U.S. currency and personal property.

d. Members of the enterprise engaged in the crimes of carjacking and

abduction.

e.

from communicating with law enforcement regarding the commission of a federal offense.

M em bers of the enterprise m tlrdered a witness in order to prevent him

Members of the enterprise and their associates obstructedjustice by hiding

members of the enterprise to avoid detection and apprehension by 1aw enforcement and by

destroying documents and firearms with the intent to impair their availability for use in an

oftk ial proceeding.

g. M embers of the enterprise and their associates distributed controlled

substmwes, induding cocaine and cocaine base (commonly known as Etcrack'' cocaine), and used

the proceeds of those drug transactions to benefit gang mem bers and to help finance their

enterprise. Some m embers of the enterprise focused their drug distribution activities in the

Central Virginia area while others were focused in the Northern Virginia region.

The Racketeering Conspiracv

18. From within or about sometime in Deeember 2012, the exact date being llnknown

to the Grand Jury, and continuing through the date of this Indictment, in the W estern District of

Virginia and elsewhere, the defendants, DANIEL LAM ONT M ATHIS, a/k/a ttGunna,'' D-M an,''

and ûûMooch,'' SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON, a/k/a :Tai,'' ttlvady Blaze,'' and EsBoss Ladyr''
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MERSADIES LACHELLE SHELTON, a/k/a ttady Gulms,'' TRAVIS LEON BELL a/k/a

IûKweli Uhuru,'' :ûK Gunns,'' tûBabi '' and :llEllack W o1f,'' ANTHONY LEE W HITE a/k/a CW nt,''' >

:VYG Chop,'' and tiAnt W hite,'' GERT ARTHUR LEE W RIGHT, 111, a/k/a kll-lalisi Uhulw ''

ç'Gritty,'' EtBonesp'' and GkBig Homeyr'' AN THONY DARN ELL STOKES a/k/a CTace,'' iûBlack

Facep'' and tkKenyata Baraka,'' DEVANTE O'BRIAN BELL a/k/a çkM ook'' and KM ookie,'' and a

juvenile co-conspirator whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, together with each other and

other persons known and unknown, being persons employed by and associated with the

enterprise described above, which entep rise was engaged in, and the activities of which affected

interstate and foreign commerce, knowingly and intentionally did combine, conspire, confederate

and agree with each other, and with diverse persons known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to

violate Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962(c), that is, to conduct and participate, directly

and indirectly, in the conduct of the affairs of the enterprise through a pattel'n of racketeering

activity, as that term is detined by Title 18, United States Code, section 1961(1) and 1961(5),

consisting of multiple acts involving:

M lzrder, chargeable under Virginia Code, Sedions 18.2-32.,

Kidnapping, chargeable under Virginia Code, Seetion 18.2-47*,

Robbery, chargeable under Virginia Code, Sedions 18.2-58.,

b.

multiple acts indictable under

d. 18 U.S.C. j 1512 (obstrudion of justieel;

18 U.S.C. j 1951 (interferenee with eommerce by threats or violencel;

and, multiple acts involving'.
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conspiracy to distribute controlled substances, in violation of 21 U.S.C. jj

841 and 846.

It was further part of the conspiracy that each defendant agreed that a conspirator

would comm it at least two acts of racketeering activity in the conduct of the affairs of the

enterprise.

Overt Ads

20. ln furtherance of the conspiracy and to achieve the objective thereof, the

defendants, and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, performed and caused to be

performed a number of overt acts in the W estem  District of Virginia and elsewhere. The overt

acts perfonned by the conspirators included, but are not limited to:

Robbery of 7-Eleven

On or about October 2, 2013, in Gordonsville, Virginia, DANIEL LAM ON T
MATHIS a/k/a Gtflulman'' D-Man,'' and ttMooch,'' SHANTAI MONIQUE
SHELTON a/Va çû-l-ai '' ttlxady Blaze,'' and çsBoss Lady,'' ANTHONY LEE
W HITE zlVa çW nt'' and tûAnt W hite,'' and DEVANTE O'BRIAN BELL a/k/a
ûtM ook'' and tiM ookie,'' robbed the store clerk at the 7-Eleven at gunpoint.

Robbery OJ-D.S.

On or about October 4, 2013, in Bumpass, Virginia, SHANTAI MONIQUE
SHELTON a/lt/a ii-rai '' çtady Blaze,'' and ktBoss Ladyy'' TRAVIS LEON
BELL a/k/a ûûloweli Uhurup'' ttK Gurms '' ççBabi '' and SiBlack W olf ''5 5 7
ANTHONY LEE W HITE a/k/a ûûAnt'' and GçAnt W hitev'' and DEVAN TE
O'BRIAN BELL a/k/a ldM ook,'' and ûtM ookie,'' robbed D.S.

c. Robbery ofthe Columbia Market

On or about October 9, 2013, in Fluvanna County, Virginia, DANIEL
LAM ONT M ATHIS a/k/a tûGulm a,'' D-M an,'' and EûM ooch,'' SHANTAI
MONIQUE SHELTON a/k/a çt-fai '' ltady Blaze,'' and ûtBoss Lady,'' and a7
another known to the Grand Jury, robbed the clerk of the Columbia M arket at
gunpoint.
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d. Robbery ofJS.

On or about October 11, 2013, in Louisa Cotmty, Virginia, DANIEL
LAM ONT M ATHIS a/k/a ItGttnna,'' D-M an,'' and EiM ooch,'' SHANTAI
MONIQUE SHELTON a/lda GûTai,'' ûtady Blaze,'' and CiBoss Lady,''
ANTHONY LEE W HITE a/k/a llAnt'' and çtAnt W hite,'' and DEVANTE
O'BRIAN BELL a/lt/a lkM ook'' and CtM ookie,'' robbed J.S. at gunpoint.

Burglary ofResidence ofM S.

On or about October 24, 2013, in Bumpass, Virginia, SHANTAI MONIQUE
SHELTON a/k/a çûl'ai '' Etl-ady Blaze,'' and ttBoss Lady,'' and ANTHONY5
LEE W HITE a/k/a EGAnt'' and ElAnt W hite,'' burglarized the residence of M .S.,
stealing a Colt .45 handgun, a .38 Taurus handgun, ammunition, and other
personal property.

Robbery ofBarracks Road Market

On or about November 5, 2013, in Albem arle County, Virginia, DANIEL
LAM ONT M A THIS alkla dûGunna,'' D-M an,'' and ûlM ooch,'' robbed the clerk
of the Barracks Road M arket at gunpoint.

Robbery ofthe Joy Food Store

On or about November 18, 2013, in Charlottesville, Virginia, DANIEL
LAM ON T M ATHIS a/k/a EçGunna,'' D-M an,'' and diM oochr'' robbed the clerk
of the Joy Food Store at gunpoint.

L arceny ofproperty Belonging to C.B.

On or between Novem ber 30, 2013 and December 2, 2013, SHANTAI

MONIQUE SHELTON a/Va ttTai,'' itady Blaze,'' and tûBoss Ladys'' TRAVIS
LEON BELL a/k/a ûtlkweli Uhuru,'' ECK Gunns,'' EtBabi '' and ltBlack W olf ''' 5
ANTHON Y LEE W HITE a/Va çûAnt'' and EéAnt W hite,'' and DEVAN TE

O'BRIAN BELL a/k/a ûçMook'' and (O ookie,'' stolejewelry belonging to C.B.

Robbery ofMacoueens Store

On or about December 16, 2013, in Louisa, Virginia, DANIEL LAM ONT
M ATHIS aIV a ttGu1ma,'' D-M an,'' and CtM ooch,'' and another co-conspirator
known to the Grand Jury, robbed the clerk of the Macoueens Store at
gunpoint.
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Robbery ofthe FernclX Exxon

On or about January 3, 2014, in Charlottesville, Virginia, DANIEL LAM ONT
MATHIS a/k/a isGunna,'' D-Man,'' and tûM ooch,'' robbed the clerk of the
Fenwliff Exxon at gtmpoint.

Robbery ofthe Food Master Store

On or about January 26, 2014, in Charlottesville, Virginia, DANIEL
LAM ONT M ATHIS alkla (;Gu1m a,'' D-M an,'' and llM ooch,'' robbed the clerk
of the Food M aster Store at gunpoint.

Carjacking and Kidnapping ofKevin Quick and his Vehicle

On or about January 31, 2014, DANIEL LAM ONT MATHIS a/k/a ûtGunna,''
D-Man,'' and ttMooch,'' SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON a/k/a ûETai,'' 'llxady
Blaze,'' and ttBoss Lady,'' MERSADIES LACHELLE SHELTON a/k/a ttady
Gunns,'' and TRAVIS LEON BELL a/k/a tûloweli Uhuru,'' $$K Gunns,'' CiBabi ''5
and iiBlack Wo1f,'' cmjacked a vehicle belonging to Kevin Quick and then
kidnapped him .

m. Withdrawal offundsh'om Kevin Quick's BankAccounts

On or about January 31, 2014, DAN IEL LAM ONT M ATHIS a/k/a 'lGum1a,''
D-Man,'' and ClMooch,'' SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON a/lt/a Ei-fai '' tûlsady
Blaze,'' and EéBoss Lady,'' M ERSADIES LACHELLE SHELTON a/lc/a iilwady
Gunns,'' and TRAVIS LEON BELL a/k/a 'iKweli Uhum '' :tK Gunns,'' ççBabi ''
and tsBlack Wolf,'' drove around to various banks in Virginia, in Quick's
vehicle, and made, or attempted to make, withdrawals from Kevin Quick's
bnnk accounts. During some of these attempts, Quick was still in the vehicle
being held against his will.

Murder ofKevin Quick

On or about January 31, 2014, DAN IEL LAM ON T M ATHIS aIV a CsGunnay''
D-Man,'' and idMoochr'' SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON zIVa it-fai '' ètady
Blazep'' and 'tBoss Ladyp'' M ERSADIES LACHELLE SHELTON a/k/a Vt ady
Gtmns,'' and TRAVIS LEON BELL a/k/a tllf.weli Uhuru,'' :çK Gurms,'' ttBabi ''
and tlBlack Wolf,'' murdered Kevin Quick and left his body in a wooded area
in Goochland County, Virginia.
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Robbery ofD.C., E.C. and L .B.

On or about Februmy 2, 2014, in M ineral, Virginia, DANIEL LAM ONT
M ATHIS a/lc/a ûtGunna,'' D-M an,'' and tûM ooch,'' M ERSADIES LACHELLE
SHELTON a/k/a ût ady Gunns,'' and others, robbed D .C., E.C. and L.B. at
gunpoint.

p. Malicious Wounding OJ-D.C.

On or about February 2, 2014, in M ineral, Virginia, DANIEL LAM ON T
M ATHIS a/k/a ûEGumAa,'' D-M an,'' and çtM oochr'' M ERSADIES LACHELLE
SHELTON a/lc/a ûtlvady Gunns,'' during a robbery, shot D.C. and
pistol-whipped L.B.

Obstruction oflustice - Destruction and Disposal ofDocuments

On or betw een January 2014, and April 2014, GERT ARTHUR LEE
W RIGHT 1ll a/k/a Itllalisi Uhurur'' ûtGritty,'' étBones,'' and liBig Homeyr''>
ANTHONY DARNELL STOKES alkla ttFace,'' tçBlack Facer'' and EiKenyata
Baraka,'' ANTHONY LEE W HITE alkla tW nt'' and tcAnt W hite,'' a
co-conspirator known to the Grand Jury, and others, both known and unknown

to the Grand Jury, obstructed justice by altering, destroying and concealing
documents and property belonging to Kevin Quick in order to prevent their
discovery by law enforcem ent.

Obstruction oflustice - Destvuction and Disposal ofa Firearm

On or between January 2014, and April 2014, GERT ARTHUR LEE
W RIGHT 111 a/k/a ttl-lalisi Uhuru,'' isGrit4y,'' tsBones,'' and 'ûBig Homey,''5
ANTHONY DARN ELL STOKES a/Va ttFace,'' E'Black Facen'' and çtKenyata
Baraka,'' a co-conspirator known to the Grand Jury, and others, obstructed
justice by altering, destroying and concealing a .40 caliber firearm, in order to
prevent its discovery from law enforcem ent.

Narcotics Distribution - Central Virginia

On or between Decem ber of 2013, and Febntal'y 2014, DANIEL LAM ONT
M ATHIS a/k/a tlGunna,'' D-M an,'' and ûûM oochr'' ANTHON Y LEE W HITE
a/k/a ttAnt'' and tûAnt W hiter'' and others known and unknown to the Grand
Jury, conspired to distribute cocaine hydrochloride throughout the Central
Virginia region.
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Narcotics Distribution - Northern Virginia

On or between Novem ber 30, 2013 and February 1, 2014, GERT ARTHUR
LEE W RIGHT l11 a/k/a çûl-lalisi Uhuru,'' tdGritty,'' ûlBones,'' and ttBig5
Homey,'' ANTHONY DARNELL STOKES a/lt/a ûkFace,'' toBlack Face,'' and
others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, conspired to distribute crack
cocaine and powder cocaine throughout the Northern Virginia region and
elsewhere.

21. All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962(d).

NOTICE O F SPECIAL SENTENCING FACTORS

The allegations and facts set forth in this N otice of Special Sentencing Factors relate to

Count One of this Indictm ent.

From on or between January 31, 2014, and Febnlary 1, 2014, in the W estern

District of Virginia, defendants DANIEL LAM ONT M ATHIS a/k/a ttGunna,'' D-M an,'' and

tlMooch,'' SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON, a/k/a çûTai,'' Ctady Blazer'' and ttBoss Ladyp''

M ERSADIES LACHELLE SHELTON, aIV a Ctady Gulms,'' TRAVIS LEON BELL a/k/a

Esloweli Uhulw '' ttK Gunns,'' EsBabi '' and çlBlack W olf,'' did by foree, intimidation or deeeption,7 5.

and without legal justification or excuse, seize, take, transport, detain or secrete Kevin Quick

with the intent to deprive him  of his liberty or to withhold or conceal him  from any person,

authority or institution lawfully entitled to his charge, in violation of Virginia Code, Section

18.2-47.

2. From on or between January 31, 2014, and February 1, 2014, in the W estern

District of V irginia, defendants DANIEL LAM ONT M ATHIS aIV a ctGumza,'' D-M an,'' and

itMooch,'' SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON alkla lû-l-ai '' Edtaady Blaze,'' and GtBoss Lady,''5 !t
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M ERSADIES LACHELLE SHELTON, a/k/a ûtady Gulms,'' TRAVIS LEON BELL a/k/a

ççloweli Uhurw'' ;:K Gunns,'' ççBabi '' and tiBlack W olf,'' did willfully, deliberately and with7

premeditation, kill Kevin Quick, in violation of Virginia Code Section 18.2-32.

On or between January 31, 2014 and February 1, 2014, in the W estel'n District of

Virginia, DANIEL LAM ONT M ATHIS a/k/a ktGunna,'' D-M an,'' and ikM oochr'' SHAN TAI

MONIQUE SHELTON, a/k/a iûTai,'' ttady Blazep'' and CtBoss Lady,'' MERSADIES

LACHELLE SHELTON , a/k/a Ctlwady Gunns,'' and TRAVIS LEON BELL a/k/a C'Kweli Uhuru,''

1iK Gunns,'' liBabi '' and çûBlack W olf,'' did as principals or as aiders and abettors, kill Kevin5

Quick, with the intent to prevent the communication by Kevin Quick to a 1aw enforcement

officer information relating to the com mission of or possible comm ission of a federal offense,

to-wit: carjacking, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 21 19, all in violation of

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2 and 1512(a)(1)(C).

COUNT TW O
Narcotics Conspiracy

(December 2013 through Febnlary 2014)

The Grand Jury further charges:

That beginning som etime in or about December 6, 2013, and continuing through

February of 2014, in the W estem  District of Virginia and elsewhere, the defendants, DANIEL

LAM ONT M ATHIS, a/lt/a lEGunna,'' D-M an,'' and ûtM ooch,'' and ANTHONY LEE W HITE,

a/k/a ûûAnt,'' ûtYG Chop,'' and iûAnt W hite,'' and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury,

did knowingly and intentionally eombine, conspire, confederate, and agree, together, and with
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diverse other persons, known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to knowingly and intentionally

distribute and possess w ith intent to distribute a m ixtures and substances containing a detectable

am ount of cocaine hydroehloride, a Schedule 11 controlled substance, in violation of Title 21,

United States Code, Section 841(a).

2. All in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 846.

COUNT THREE
Conspiracy to Com mit Hobbs Act Robberies
(October 2, 2013 through February 2, 2014)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

On or about and between October 2, 2013, and February 2, 2014, within the

W estern District of Virginia and elsewhere, the defendants DANIEL LAM ONT M ATHIS, a1Va

stGum&a,'' D-Man,'' and CçMooch,'' SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON a/k/a çl-l-ai '' ttady Blaze,'', >'

and 'tBoss Lady,'' ANTHONY LEE W HITE a/kla ''Ant'' and $;Ant W hite,'' DEVANTE

O'BRIAN BELL ZIVa iiMook'' and tûMookier'' and ajuvenile co-conspirator whose identity is

known to the Grand Jury, did knowingly and willfully conspire and agree, together with each

other and other persons, known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to tmlawfully obstruct, delay,

and affect, and attempt to obstruct, delay, and affect, commerce, as that term is defined in Title

18, United States Code, Section 1951(b)(3), and the movement of articles and commodities in

such commerce, by robbery, as that term is defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section

1951(b)(1), in that the defendants did knowingly and willfully conspire and agree to take and

obtain cash and other goods from  store derks and others, against their will, by m eans of actual

and threatened force, violence, and fear of injury, immediate and future, to each of their persons

1 8
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and property in their custody alld possession, that is the defendants used, carried, displayed,

possessed, brandished, and pointed firearms at store clerks and others, and demanded cash and

other goods.

2. A11 in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1951(a).

COUNT FOUR
Hobbs Act Robbery of 7-Eleven

(October 2, 2013)

The Grand July further charges that:

On or about October 2, 2013, SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON a/k/a tû-faip''

dilaady Blaze,'' and ûûBoss Lady,'' ANTHONY LEE W HITE a/lk/a ;ûAnt'' and ;;Ant W hiter''

DEVANTE O'BRIAN BELL alkla itMook'' and tûMookie,'' and two juvenile co-conspirators,

whose identities are known to the Grand Jury, in the W estern District of Virginia, did unlawfully

obstruct, delay, and affect, and attempt to obstruct, delay, and affect, commerce, as that term is

defined in Title 1 8, United States Code, Section 1951(b)(3), and the movement of articles and

commodities in such commerce, by robbery, as that term is defined in Title 18, United States

Code, Section 1951(b)(1), in that the defendants did unlawfully take and obtain cash and other

goods f'rom the clerk at the 7-Eleven store located in Gordonsville, Virginia, against his or her

will by means of actual and threatened force, violence, and fear of injury, immediate and future,

to each of their person and property in their custody and possession, that is the defendants used,

carried, displayed, possessed, brandished, and pointed tirearms at the clerk and others, and

demanded cash and other goods.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 195l(a).
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COUNT FIVE
Use of Fireanu in the Commission of the
Hobbs Act Robbery of the 7-Eleven

(October 2, 2013)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

on or about October 2, 2013, SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON a/k/a t1Tai,''

Ctady Blaze,'' and ûiBoss Lady,'' ANTHONY LEE W HITE a/kla ;W nt'' and CûAnt W hite,''

DEVANTE O'BRIAN BELL ZIVa 'O ook'' and ttMookie,'' and two juvenile co-conspirators

whose identities are known to the Grand Jury, in the W estern District of Virginia, did knowingly

carry and brandish a fireann during and in relation to a crime of violence for which he may be

prosecuted in a court of the United States, that is, robbery.

2. Al1 in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(c)(1)(A)(ii).

COUN T SlX
Violent Crim e in Aid of Racketeering, to-wit:

Assault with a Dangerous W eapon at the 7-Eleven.
(October 2, 2013)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

At all times relevant to this lndictment, the Bloods, as m ore fully described in

paragraph One through Seventeen of Count One of this lndictm ent, which are realleged and

incorporated by reference as though set forth fully herein, constituted an enteprise as defined in

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1959(b)(2), that is, a group of individuals associated in fact

that was engaged in, and the activities of which affected, interstate and foreign com m erce. The

enterprise constituted an ongoing organization whose members functioned as a continuing unit

for a common pumose of achieving the objectives of the enterprise.
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At al1 times relevant to this lndictm ent, the above-described enterprise, through its

m em bers and associates, engaged in racketeering activity as defined in Title 18, United States

Code, Sedions 1959(b)(1) and 1961(1), to-wit: offenses involving robbery, in violation of Title

18, United States Code, Section 1951., kidnapping, in violation of Virginia Code, Section

18.2-47,. robbery, in violation of Virginia Code, Sections 18.2-58,. and murder, in violation of

Virginia Code, Sections 18.2-32.

On or about October 2, 2013, in the W estern District of Virginia and elsewhere,

for the pup ose of gaining entrance to and m aintaining and increasing position in the enterprise,

an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity, SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON a!Va i:Tai,''

tûlaady Blaze,'' and dtBoss Lady,'' AN THONY LEE W HITE a/lt/a tW nt'' and iW nt W hite,''

DEVANTE O'BRIAN BELL a/k/a SsMook'' and C'Mookie,'' and two juvenile co-conspirators,

whose identities are known to the Grand Jury, did assault the clerk of the 7-Eleven Store in

Gordonsville, Virginia, with a dangerous weapon, in violation of Virginia Code, Section

18.2-282.

A1l a Violent Crim e in Aid of Racketeering Activity and Aiding and Abetting, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2 and 1959(a)(3).
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COUNT SEVEN
Use of Firearm During a Violence Crim e in Aid of

Racketeering, to-wit: Assault with a Dangerous W eapon

(October 2, 2013)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

On or about Odober 2, 2013, SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON a/k/a $CTai,''

ttady Blaze,'' and StBoss Lady,'' ANTHONY LEE W HITE a/k!a tûAnt'' and 4ûAnt W hite,''

DEVANTE O'BRIAN BELL a/k/a tûMook'' and ûtMookie,'' and two juvenile co-conspirator,

whose identities are known to the Grand Jury, in the W estem  District of Virginia, did knowingly

can'y and brandish a fireat'm during and in relation to a crime of violence for which they may be

prosecuted in a court of the United States, that is, assault with a dangerous weapon.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(c)(1)(A)(ii).

COUNT EIGHT
Violent Crime in Aid of Racketeering, to-wit:

A ssault J.S. with a Dangerous W eapon

(October 11, 2013)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

1. At al1 times relevant to this lndictm ent, the Bloods, as more fully described in

paragraph One through Seventeen of Count One of this Indictment, which are realleged and

incorporated by reference as though set forth fully herein, constituted an entemrise as defined in

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1959(b)(2), that is, a group of individuals associated in fact

that was engaged in, and the activities of which affected, interstate and foreign comm erce. The

enterprise constituted an ongoing organization whose m embers functioned as a continuing unit

for a common pumose of achieving the objectives of the enterprise.
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At all times relevant to this lndictment, the above-described enterprise, through its

m embers and associates, engaged in racketeering activity as defined in Title 18, United States

Code, Sections 1959(b)(1) and 1961(1), to-wit: offenses involving robbery, in violation of Title

18, United States Code, Section 1951,. kidnapping, in violation of Virginia Code, Section

18.2-47., robbery, in violation of Virginia Code, Sections 18.2-58', and murder, in violation of

Virginia Code, Sections 18.2-32.

On or about October 1 1, 2013, in the W estern District of Virginia and elsewhere,

and for the purpose of gaining entrance to and maintaining and increasing position in the

enterprise, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity, SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON,

a/k/a iûl'ai '' Etlaady Blaze,'' mzd :ll3oss Lady,'' AN THONY LEE W HITE a/k/a CW nt '' :CYG7 > >

Chop,'' and dsAnt W hite,'' DEVANTE O'BRIAN BELL alkla tûM ook'' and diM ookie,'' and two

juvenile co-conspirators whose identities are known to the Grand Jul'y, as principals or as aiders

and abettors, did assault J.S. with a dangerous weapon, in violation of Virginia Code, Section

18.2-282.

4.

violation of Title l8, United States Code, Sedions 2 and 1959(a)(3).

All a Violent Crim e in Aid of Racketeering Adivity and Aiding and Abetting, in
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COUNTY NINE
Use of Firearm  During the Assault of J.S.

with a Dangerous W eapon
(October 1 1, 2013)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

On or about October 1 1, 2013, SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON, a/k!a ûTai,''

li ady Blaze,'' and ésBoss Lady,'' ANTHONY LEE W HITE alkla itAnt '' 'ûYG Chop,'' and ttAnt> 7

White,'' DEVANTE O'BRIAN BELL a/k/a iûMook'' and VlMookie,'' and two juvenile

co-conspirators whose identities are knom z to the Grand Jury, in the W estern District of Virginia,

did knowingly carry, brandish and discharge a firenrm during and in relation to a crime of

violence for which they may be prosecuted in a court of the United States, that is, assault with a

dangerous weapon.

2. All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(c)(1)(A)(iii).

COUNT TEN
Hobbs Act Robbery of Macoueens Store

(December 16, 2013)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

On or about December 16, 2013, DAN IEL LAM ONT M ATHIS a/k/a EdGumAa,''

D-Man,'' and ûEMooch,'' and ajuvenile co-conspirator whose identity is known to the Grand Jury,

in the W estern District of Virginia, did tmlawfully obstruct, delay, and affect, and attem pt to

obstruct, delay, and affect, com merce, as that term is defined in Title 18, United States Code,

Section 1951(b)(3), and the movement of articles and commodities in such commerce, by

robbery, as that term is defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1951(b)(1), in that the

defendant did unlawfully take and obtain cash and other goods from the clerk at the Macoueens
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store located in Louisa, Virginia, against his or her will by means of actual and threatened force,

violence, and fear of injury, immediate and future, to each of their person and property in their

custody and possession, that is, the defendant used, carried, displayed, possessed, brandished,

and pointed firearms at the clerk and others, and demanded cash and other goods.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1951(a).

COUN T ELEVEN
Use of Firearm  in the Comm ission of the Hobbs Act Robbery

of Macoueens Store
(December 16, 2013)

The Gratld July further charges that:

On or about December 16, 2013, DANIEL LAM ONT M ATHIS a/k/a ttGumAa,''

D-Man,'' and kûMooch,'' and ajuvenile whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, in the Western

District of Virginia, did knowingly carry and brandish, a fireann during and in relation to a crim e

of violence for which he may be prosecuted in a court of the United States, that is, robbery.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(c)(1)(A)(ii).

COUN T TW ELVE
Violent Crim e in Aid of Racketeering, to-wit:

Assault with a Dangerous W eapon at the Macoueens Store.
(December 16, 2013)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

1. At all times relevant to this Indictment, the Bloods, as more fully described in

paragraph One through Seventeen of Count One of this lndictment, which are realleged and

incorporated by reference as though set forth fully herein, constituted an enterprise as detined in
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Title 18, United States Code, Section 1959(b)(2), that is, a group of individuals associated in fact

that was engaged in, and the activities of which affected, interstate and foreign commerce. The

enterprise constituted an ongoing organization whose members functioned as a èontinuing unit

for a common purpose of achieving the objectives of the enterprise.

At al1 times relevant to this Indictment, the above-described enterprise, through its

mem bers and associates, engaged in racketeering activity as detined in Title 18, United States

Code, Sections 1959(b)(1) and 1961(1), to-wit: offenses involving robbery, in violation of Title

18, United States Code, Section 1951., kidnapping, in violation of Virginia Code, Section

18.2-47,. robbery, in violation of Virginia Code, Sections 18.2-58,* and m urder, in violation of

Virginia Code, Sections 18.2-32.

On or about December 16, 2013, in the W estern District of Virginia and

elsewhere, for the pup ose of gaining entrance to and maintaining and increasing position in the

enterprise, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity, DANIEL LAMONT MATHIS a/k/a

ttGunna,'' D-M an,'' and tûMooch,'' and ajuvenile whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, did

assault the clerk of the Macoueens Store in Louisa, Virginia, with a dangerous weapon in

violation of Virginia Code, Section 18.2-282.

Al1 a Violent Crime in A id of Racketeering Activity and Aiding and Abetting, in

violation of Titie 18, United States Code, Sedions 2 and 1959(a)(3).
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COUN T THIRTEEN
Use of Firearm During a Violence Crime in Aid of

Racketeering, to-wit: Robbery of the Macoueens Store
(December 16, 2013)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

On or about October 1, 2013, DANIEL LAM ONT M ATHIS a/k/a ûçGulma,''

D-Man,'' and tsMooch,'' and ajuvenile whose identity is known to the Grand July, in the W estern

District of Virginia, did knowingly carry and brandish a firearm during and in relation to a crim e

of violence for which they may be prosecuted in a court of the United States, that is, assault with

a dangerous weapon.

A1l in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(c)(1)(A)(ii).

COUNT FOURTEEN
Hobbs Act Robbery of Food M aster Store

(January 26, 2014)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

On or about January 26, 2014, DANIEL LAM ONT M ATHIS a/k/a EûGurma,''

D-M an,'' and ttM ooch,'' in the W estern District of Virginia, did unlawfully obstruct, delay, and

affect, and attempt to obstruct, delay, and affect, comm erce, as that term is defined in Title 18,

United States Code, Section 1951(b)(3), and the movement of articles and commodities in such

commerce, by robbery, as that term is defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section

1951(b)(1), in that the defendant did unlawfully take and obtain cash and other goods from the

clerk at the Food M aster Store located in Charlottesville, Virginia, against his or her will by

means of actual and threatened force, violence, and fear of injury, immediate and future, to each
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of their person and property in their custody and possession, that is, the defendant used, canied,

displayed, possessed, brandished, and pointed fireanns at the clerk and others, and demanded

cash and other goods.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1951(a).

COUNT FIFTEEN
Use of Firearm in the Commission of the Hobbs Act

Robbery of the Food M aster Store
(January 26, 2014)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

On or about January 26, 2013, DAN IEL LAM ON T M ATHIS zlV a cûflunna,''

D-M an,'' and ttM oochp'' in the W estel'n District of Virginia, did knowingly cany and brandish a

firearm during and in relation to a crim e of violence for which he m ay be prosecuted in a court of

the United States, that is, robbery.

Al1 in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(c)(1)(A)(ii).

COUN T SIXTEEN
Violent Crime in Aid of Racketeering, to-wit: Assault with a Dangerous W eapon

at the Food M aster Store
(January 26, 2014)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

At a1l times relevant to this lndictment, the Bloods, as m ore fully described in

paragraph One through Seventeen of Count One of this lndictm ent, which are realleged and

incorporated by reference as though set forth fully herein, constituted an entem rise as defned in

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1959(b)(2), that is, a group of individuals associated in fact
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that was engaged in, and the activities of which affected, interstate and foreign com merce. The

entem rise constituted an ongoing organization whose mem bers functioned as a continuing unit

for a common purpose of achieving the objectives of the enterprise.

At all times relevant to this lndictm ent, the above-described enterprise, through its

members and associates, engaged in racketeering activity as defined in Title 18, United States

Code, Sections 1959(b)(1) and 196141), to-wit: offenses involving robbery, in violation of Title

18, United States Code, Section 1951., kidnapping, in violation of Virginia Code, Section

18.2-47,. robbery, in violation of Virginia Code, Sections 18.2-58., and murder, in violation of

Virginia Code, Sections 18.2-32.

On or about January 26, 2014, in the W estern District of Virginia and elsewhere,

for the purpose of gaining entrance to and m aintaining and increasing position in the enterprise,

an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity, DANIEL LAM ONT M ATHIS a/lç/a CçGunna,''

D-M an,'' and ttM ooch,'' did assault the clerk of the Food Master store located in Charlotlesville,

Virginia, with a dangerous weapon, in violation of Virginia Code, Sections 18.2-282.

A11 a Violent Crim e in Aid of Racketeering Activity and Aiding and Abetting, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sedions 2 and 1959(a)(3).
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COUNT SEVENTEEN
Use of Fireann During a Violence Crime in Aid of

Racketeering, to-wit: Assault with a Dangerous W eapon
at the Food M aster Store
(January 26, 2014)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

On or about Januazy 26, 2014, DANIEL LAM ONT M ATHIS a/va ttGulana,''

D-M an,'' and dtM ooch,'' in the W estelm District of Virginia, did knowingly carry and brandish a

tireann during and in relation to a crim e of violence for which they m ay be prosecuted in a court

of the United States, that is, assault with a dangerous weapon.

2. All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(c)(1)(A)(ii).

COUNT EIGHTEEN
Violent Crime in Aid of Racketeering, to-wit:

Kidnapping of Kevin Quick
(January 31, 2014)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

At all times relevant to this Indictm ent, the Bloods, as more fully described in

paragraph One through Seventeen of Count One of this lndictment, which are realleged and

incorporated by reference as though set forth fully herein, constituted an enterprise as defined in

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1959(b)(2), that is, a group of individuals associated in fact

that was engaged in, and the activities of which affected, interstate and foreign comm erce. The

enterprise constituted an ongoing organization whose m embers functioned as a continuing unit

for a common pumose of achieving the objectives of the enteprise.
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At a1l times relevant to this lndictment, the above-described enterprise, through its

members and associates, engaged in racketeering activity as detined in Title 18, United States

Code, Sections 1959(b)(1) and 196141), to-wit: offenses involving robbery, in violation of Title

18, United States Code, Section 1951,. kidnapping, in violation of Virginia Code, Section

18.2-47,. robbery, in violation of Virginia Code, Sections 18.2-58., and m urder, in violation of

Virginia Code, Sections 18.2-32.

On or between January 31, 2014, and February 1, 2014, in the W estern District of

Virginia, for the purpose of gaining entrance to and maintaining and increasing position in the

enterprise, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity, DANIEL LAM ONT M ATHIS alkla

CiGumla,'' D-Man,'' and tlMooch,'' SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON, aIVa il-l-ai '' ttady Blaze,''

and ttBoss Lady,'' M ERSADIES LACHELLE SHELTON , a/V a Ctady Gulm s,'' TRAVIS LEON

BELL a/k/a ttloweli Uhuru,'' $;K Gtmnsp'' ttBabi '' and ttBlack W olf,'' did kidnap Kevin Quick, in

violation of Virginia Code Sections, 18.2-47.

4. All a Violent Crim e in Aid of Racketeering Activity and Aiding and Abetting, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Seetions 2 and l959(a)(1).

COUN T N INETEEN
Use of Firearm During a Violence Crime in Aid of

Racketeering, to-wit: Kidnapping of Kevin Quick
tlanuary 31, 2014)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

On or about January 31, 2014, DAN IEL LAM ONT M ATHIS a/Va 4çGunna,''

D-Man,'' and ûsMooch,'' SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON, a/k/a tûTai,'' Ctady Blaze,'' and
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diBoss Ladyr'' M ERSADIES LACHELLE SHELTON, alkla iiady Gunns,'' TM VIS LEON

BELL alkla itKweli Uhuru,'' $$K Gunlas,'' llBabi '' and ttBlack W olf,'' in the W estern District of

Virginia, did knowingly carly, brandish and dischazge a fireanu during and in relation to a crime

of violence for which they may be prosecuted in a court of the United States, that is, abduction of

Kevin Quick.

A1l in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(c)(1)(A)(iii).

COUN T TW ENTY
Violent Crime in Aid of Racketeering, to-wit:

Murder of Kevin Quick
(January 31, 2014-February 1, 2014)

The Grand July further charges that:

At a1l tim es relevant to this lndictm ent, the Bloods, as more fully described in

paragraph One through Seventeen of Count One of this lndictment, which are realleged and

incorporated by reference as though set forth fully herein, constituted an enterprise as defined in

Title 18, United States Coder
.section 1959(b)(2), that is, a group of individuals associated in fact

that was engaged in, and the activities of which affected, interstate and foreign comm erce. The

enterprise constituted an ongoing organization whose members functioned as a continuing unit

for a common purpose of achieving the objectives of the enterprise.

At a11 tim es relevant to this lndictment, the above-described enterprise, through its

mem bers and associates, engaged in racketeering activity as defined in Title 18, United States

Code, Sections 1959(b)(1) and 1961(1), to-wit: offenses involving robbery, in violation of Title

18, United States Code, Section 1951', kidnapping, in violation of Virginia Code, Section
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18.2-47., robbery, in violation of Virginia Code, Sections 18.2-58,* and murder, in violation of

Virginia Code, Sections 18.2-32.

On or between January 31, 2014, and February 1, 2014, in the W estern District of

Virginia, for the purpose of gaining entrance to and m aintaining and increasing position in the

enterprise, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity, DANIEL LAM ONT M ATHIS a/k/a

''Gum1a,'' D-Man,'' and ''Mooch,'' SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON, a/k/a çç-l-ai '' ûtl-ady Blaze,''

and iûBoss Ladyy'' M ERSADIES LA CHELLE SHELTON, a/k/a tt ady Gunns,'' TRAVIS LEON

BELL a/k/a tlKweli Uhurup'' dtK Gulmss'' (tBabi '' and çiBlack Wolf,'' did murder Kevin Quick, in

violation of Virginia Code Sections, 18.2-32.

All a Violent Crime in Aid of Racketeering Activity and Aiding and Abetting, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2 and 1959(a)(1).

COUNT TW ENTY-ONE
Use of Fireanu During a Violence Crim e in Aid of
Racketeering, to-wit: Murder of Kevin Quick

(January 31, 2014-Februa1y 1, 2014)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

On or between January 31, 2014, and February 1, 2014, DANIEL LAM ONT

MATHIS a1Va ûdGum4a,'' D-Man,'' and ûtMooch,'' SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON, a/k/a

tdTai,'' tt ady Blaze,'' and GçBoss Lady,'' M ERSADIES LACHELLE SHELTON a/k/a 4llxady5

Gurms,'' TRAVIS LEON BELL alk!a kiKweli Uhuru,'' ûtK Guzms,'' iiBabi '' and lûBlack Woltl'' in5

the W estern District of Virginia, did knowingly carry, brandish and dischàrge a firearm during
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and in relation to a crim e of violence for which they m ay be prosecuted in a court of the United

States, that is, murder of Kevin Quick.

Al1 in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(c)(1)(A)(iii).

COUNT TW ENTY-TW O
Tampering with a W itness, to-wit:

Murder of Kevin Quick
(January 31, zol4-February 1, 2014)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

1. On or between January 31, 2014 and February 1, 2014, in the W estern District of

Virginia, DANIEL LAM ONT M ATHIS a/k/a tiflulm a,'' D-M an,'' and SsM oochr'' SHAN TAI

MONIQUE SHELTON, a/k/a :tTai,'' ttady Blaze,'' and tiBoss Lady,'' MERSADIES

LACHELLE SHELTON, a/k/a çslwady Gunns,'' and TM VIS LEON BELL a/lc/a EdKweli Uhum ''

(tK Gunns,'' ûtBabi '' and dûBlack W olf,'' did as principals or as aiders and abettors, kill Kevin>

Quick, with the intent to prevent the commlmication by Kevin Quick to a law enforcement

officer infonnation relating to the comm ission of or possible com mission of a federal offense,

to-wit: carjacking, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 21 19.

Al1 in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sedions 2 and 1512(a)(1)(C).
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COUNT TW ENTY-THREE
Use of Firearm During the

Tampering of a Witness, to-wit: Murder of Kevin Quick
(January 31, 2014-Febnlary 1, 2014)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

On or between January 31, 2014, and February 1, 2014, DAN IEL LAM ONT

MATHIS a/k/a tçGunna,'' D-Man,'' and ttMoochp'' SHANTAI MONIQUE SHELTON a/k/a ttl'ai ''7

ttady Blaze,'' and (tBoss Lady,'' M ERSADIES LACHELLE SHELTON, a/k/a Etlxady Gunns,''

and TRAVIS LEON BELL alk!a ttKweli Uhuru,'' ttK Gurms,'' tûBabi '' and kiBlack W o1f,'' in the

W estern District of Virginia, did knowingly can'y, brandish, and discharge a firearm during and

in relation to a crime of violence, for which they m ay be prosecuted in a court of the United

States, that is, the tampering of a witness resulting in death.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(c)(1)(A)(iii).

COUNT TW ENTY-FOUR
Violent Crim e in Aid of Racketeering, to-wit:
Assault D .C. with a Dangerous W eapon

(Februal'y 2, 2014)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

1. At all tim es relevant to this lndictm ent, the Bloods, as m ore fully described in

paragraph One through Seventeen of Count One of this lndictment, which are realleged and

incorporated by reference as though set forth fully herein, constituted an enterprise as defined in

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1959(b)(2), that is, a group of individuals associated in fact

that was engaged in, and the activities of which affected, interstate and foxeign comm erce. The
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enterprise constituted an ongoing organization whose m embers functioned as a continuing unit

for a common purpose of achieving the objectives of the enterprise.

2. At all tim es relevant to this Indictm ent, the above-described enterprise, through its

mem bers and associates, engaged in racketeering activity as detined in Title 18, United States

Code, Sections 1959(b)(1) and 1961(1), to-wit: offenses involving robbery, in violation of Title

18, United States Code, Section 1951', kidnapping, in violation of Virginia Code, Section

18.2-47., robbery, in violation of Virginia Code, Sections 18.2-58., and m ttrder, in violation of

Virginia Code, Sections 18.2-32.

On or about February 2, 2014, in the W estern District of Virginia and elsewhere,

for the purpose of gaining entrance to and maintaining and increasing position in the enterprise,

an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity, DANIEL LAM ONT MATHIS a/k/a ûûGum4a,''

D-M an,'' and itM oochp'' and M ERSADIES LACHELLE SHELTON, a/k/a û%lwady Gulm s,'' did, as

principals or as aiders and abettors, assault D.C. with a dangerous weapon, in violation of

Virginia Code, Section 18.2-282.

4. All a Violent Crime in Aid of Racketeering Activity and Aiding and Abetting, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2 and 1959(a)(3).
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COUNT TW ENTY-FIVE
Use of a Firearm in the Commission of an Assault of D.C. with a

Dangerous W eapon

(February 2, 2014)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

On or about February 2, 2014, DANIEL LAM ON T M ATHIS a/kla çûG1Inna,''

D-M an,'' and çtM ooch,'' and M ERSADIES LA CHELLE SHELTON a/k/a tt ady Gulm s,'' in the

W estern District of Virginia, did knowingly carry, brandish, and discharge a firearm dlzring and

in relation to a crime of violence for which they m ay be prosecuted in a court of the United

States, that is, assault with a dangerous weapon.

2. All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(c)(1)(A)(iii).

COUNT TW ENTY-SIX
Violent Crime in Aid of Racketeering, to-wit:
Assault of L.B. with a Dangerous W eapon

(February 2, 2014)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

At al1 tim es relevant to this Indictm ent, the Bloods, as m ore fully described in

paragraph One through Seventeen of Count One of this Indictment, which are realleged and

incorporated by reference as though set forth fully herein, constituted an enterprise as defined in

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1959(b)(2), that is, a group of individuals associated in fact

that was engaged in, and the activities of which affected, interstate and foreign comm erce. The

enterprise constituted an ongoing organization whose m embers functioned as a continuing unit

for a common purpose of achieving the objectives of the enterprise.
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2. At all times relevant to this Indictment, the above-described enterprise, through its

mem bers and associates, engaged in racketeering activity as defined in Title 18, United States

Code, Sections 1959(b)(1) and 1961(1), to-wit: offenses involving robbery, in violation of Title

18, United States Code, Section 1951,' kidnapping, in violation of Virginia Code, Section

18.2-47,. robbery, in violation of Virginia Code, Sections 18.2-58,. and mtzrder, in violation of

Virginia Code, Sections 18.2-32.

On or about February 2, 2014, in the W estern District of Virginia and elsewhere,

for the purpose of gaining entrance to and maintaining and increasing position in the enterprise,

an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity, DANIEL LAM ONT M ATHIS a/k/a tûGumAa,''

D-M an,'' and l'M ooch,'' and M ERSADIES LACHELLE SHELTON , a/k/a ût ady Gunns,'' did

assault L.B. with a dangerous weapon, in violation of Virginia Code, Section 18.2-282.

4. All a Violent Crim e in Aid of Racketeering Activity and Aiding and Abetting, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2 and 1959(a)(3).

COUN T TW EN TY-SEVEN
Use of a Fireanu in the Commission of the Assault of L.B. with a Dangerous W eapon

(February 2, 2014)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

On or about Februazy 2, 2014, DANIEL LAM ONT M ATHIS alkla CdGumAa,''

D-M an,'' and llM ooch,'' and M ERSADIES LACHELLE SHELTON a/lc/a itady Gunns,'' in the

W estem  District of Virginia, did knowingly carry and brandish a firearm during and in relation to

a crim e of violence for which they may be prosecuted in a court of the United States, that is,

assault with a dangerous weapon.
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2. A11 in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(c)(1)(A)(ii).

COUNT TW ENTY-EIGHT
Obstnzction of Justice - Destnzction and Disposal of Docum ents

And Other Objects
(January 31, 2014-April 2014)

The Grand Jury further charges that:

On or about January 3 1, 2014, through the date of this lndidment, GERT

ARTHUR LEE W RIGHT 111 alV a çtl-lalisi Uhuru,'' çlGritty,'' GtBones,'' and ûtBig Homey,''5 >

ANTHONY DAM ELL STOKES, a/k/a ûtFace,'' ANTH ON Y LEE W HITE a/k/a ûlAnt'' and lGAnt

W hite,'' LESLIE HOPE CASTERLOW  a/k/a ûlW hite girl,'' in the W estern District of Virginia,

did corruptly alter, destroy, mutilate, and conceal documents and other objects, or attempt to do

so, with the intent to impair their integrity and availability for use in an official proceeding.

2. Al1 in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1512(c)(1).

* k
A TRUE BILL this iî day of , 2014.

f

TIM OTHY J. H A HY
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

F REPERSON
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